1979

# Ralph L. Conk v. Wallace L. Chambers, M.D., and Granger Medical Clinic, A Corporation : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for personal injuries arising out of an alleged professional medical malpractice committed upon plaintiff, Ralph Conk by the defendant, Dr. Wallace Chambers, during the course of their professional relationship.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury. From a verdict and judgment for the defendant, and the trial court's failure to grant plaintiff's Motion for New Trial, plaintiff appeals.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a reversal of the judgment and judgment in his favor as a matter of law as to defendant's negligence with the case remanded for a trial on the issues of causation and damages only, or that failing, a new trial on all issues.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Ralph Conk, plaintiff herein, was a patient of defendant Dr. Wallace Chambers, a board certified general surgeon at the Granger Medical Clinic. (R. 162-165) He had been treated by various doctors at the clinic over the years for various minor maladies, but primarily for high blood pressure and obesity. (See testimony of Drs. Laverne D. Poulsen and Jerry K. Poulsen. R. 1104-1141) Because of those continuing problems, plaintiff first went to Dr. Chambers on March 28, 1973, requesting surgical help and advice. The doctor recommended that Mr. Conk undergo an operative procedure wherein certain portions of his small intestine would be bypassed to decrease

its absorptive capabilities thereby effectuating substantial weight reduction. (R. 780-783) . That operation was performed on Mr. Conk at the Valley West Hospital on April 23, 1973. (R. 800)

According to the defendant, Mr. Conk "had an excellent operative and post-operative course" (R. 1173.) Also according to the doctor, up to February 17, 1975, they had achieved the "results contemplated or hoped for, at least, by the surgeon" (R. 1160)

However, again by the testimony of the defendant, by March 1975, a significant change in Mr. Conk's kidney function was noted. (R. 1169-1170) At that time Dr. Chambers patient was referred to other specialists who followed his condition. Ultimately his kidneys completely shut down. (R. 1171, 1010-1015)

Since the time of the total kidney failure in 1975, Mr. Conk has had one unsuccessful attempt at a kidney transplant. He has been put to the necessity of being attached to an artificial kidney machine three times per week for periods of five hours for each session. He has had many assorted physical difficulties directly associated with the loss of his kidneys. He can no longer be gainfully employed and is currently on a disability retirement from his job as a draftsman for the U.S. Government. (R. 1016-1026)

It was the position of plaintiff at trial that the medical treatment by Dr. Chambers was negligently administered.

More particularly, plaintiff alleged that the doctor was negligent in that he knew, or in the exercise of ordinary care he should have known that the performance of the ileal bypass involved extraordinary, unusual and medically unacceptable risks to his patient's health and well-being. Specifically, the doctor failed and neglected to advise plaintiff of the nature and seriousness of the risks associated with the operation, that the plaintiff had a pre-existing kidney condition that would contraindicate performance of the operation, and that the operation itself was experimental in nature. Therefore, the doctor did not obtain the requisite informed consent for the performance of the operation.

Plaintiff further asserted that the operation should never have been performed because Mr. Conk was not a proper candidate due to his prior kidney damage of which Mr. Conk had no knowledge. It was also alleged that the follow-up care and treatment administered by the defendant was substandard in that necessary tests were not conducted and adequate monitoring of plaintiff's condition, which was not done, would have revealed the deteriorating kidneys at a time when their function could have been saved or at least the damage minimized. (Citation of the facts and reference to the record concerning the above is made where appropriate in the Arguments that follow the Statement of Facts)

At the conclusion of the evidence, plaintiff made motions for directed verdict on the issues of the applicable statute of limitations and lack of informed consent. Both

of the motions were denied. (R. 1369-1374).

The trial court submitted the case to the jury by instructing them on the above two issues as well as "common standard of care." Following an adverse jury verdict and judgment, plaintiff filed his Motion For New Trial (R. 183-184) and Memorandum In Support Of Motion For New Trial (R. 196-220) which motion was denied.

This appeal is taken because the trial court committed prejudicial error in not granting plaintiff's motions for directed verdict, in erroneously instructing the jury, and in failing to grant plaintiff's Motion For New Trial.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN PRESENTING ITS INSTRUCTIONS  
24 AND 25 TO THE JURY AS THEY DO NOT REFLECT THE PROPER  
STANDARD AS TO THE LIMITATION OF ACTIONS THAT APPLIES TO  
A MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CASE.

For the convenience of the Court we set forth  
hereunder the trial Court's Instructions 24 and 25 (R.163 and  
164).

#### INSTRUCTION NO. 24

As an affirmative defense, defendants contend this action is barred by the statute of limitations. Defendants have the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance of the evidence.

The statute of limitations requires that any action brought against a physician for an injury must be commenced within two years after the date of the injury or two years after the patient discovers, or through the exercise of reasonable diligence, should have discovered the injury, whichever occurs later. You must determine from the evidence when the plaintiff discovered or should have discovered his injury.

If the plaintiff became aware of facts that, under the circumstances, would have alerted an ordinary and prudent person to the possibility that some unexpected harm may have been caused by the surgery, then he is also deemed to have discovered the injury on that date. The plaintiff is charged with the responsibility of making inquiries upon learning of the possibility of harm and he is deemed to know everything that such an inquiry might have revealed concerning the injury and the cause of such injury.

#### INSTRUCTION NO. 25

For purposes of applying the statute of limitations, the plaintiff is deemed to have discovered his injury when he first became aware of any unexpected and harmful consequences that he knew, or upon reasonable inquiry should have known, were caused by the surgery Dr. Chambers performed. It is not required that the plaintiff was able to ascertain or comprehend the full extent or nature of his injury at that time, nor is it necessary that he knew, or could have known, that the injury was caused by negligence of Dr. Chambers

It is sufficient if plaintiff knew, or by the use of reasonable diligence could have learned, that the injury was the result of the surgery.

With these principles to guide you, if you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the plaintiff discovered or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered any injury before July 29, 1974, then you must return a verdict in favor of the defendants.

Plaintiff first made a motion for a directed verdict as to the statute of limitations at the conclusion of the evidence and then took exception to the legal standards expressed in the trial court's instructions at the appropriate time during the trial (R.1338 and 1339). Plaintiff further brought these matters to the attention of the trial court in his Motion for New Trial and in his Memorandum in Support of Motion for New Trial (R.200 202).

#### A. HISTORY OF LIMITATION OF ACTIONS STATUTES IN CASES OF MEDICAL MALPRACTICE.

Medical malpractice cases at common law were classified in the general category of negligence or tort actions. Therefore, until special legislation began being passed in various jurisdictions throughout the country, the general negligence limitation of action statutes applied. Utah's general statute found in Section 78-12-1 U.C.A., 1953, which is similar to most such sections throughout the country, states in pertinent part:

"Civil actions can be commenced only within periods prescribed in this chapter, after the cause of action shall have accrued, . . ."

The common law rule harshly interpreted the "accrual" date as being the moment of the defendant's neglect. Ballenger

v. Crowell, 247 S.E.2d 287 (N.C. 1978) at 293.

In the 1930's exceptions to the common law limitation began surfacing to ameliorate the inequities of such a harsh rule. The first exception that gained popular acceptance is known as the "continued course of treatment rule." The theory is basically that a Fiduciary relationship of trust exists between a patient and doctor which if broken could result in more serious consequences than the act of malpractice itself may cause. An illustrative case is that of Borgia v. City of New York, 187 N.E.2d 777 (N.Y. 1962). At 187 N.E.2d 779 the court explained the principle of continuing treatment tolling the statute of limitations by placing the theory in the context of the facts of the case that was before the court.

Little argument is needed to prove the proposition that the "continuous treatment" theory is the fairer one. It would be absurd to require a wronged patient to interrupt corrective efforts by serving a summons on the physician or hospital superintendent or by filing a notice of claim in the case of a city hospital. The case now under review will illustrate. This child by reason of the hospital personnel's negligence suffered permanent brain damage at the hospital on the night he was admitted and on three later occasions was a victim of neglect amounting to malpractice. Acceptance by us of the city's argument that the 90 days ran from the last malpractice would mean that, if the child had remained in the hospital a few days longer than he did, the 90-day period would have expired while he was still a patient receiving care and treatment related to the conditions produced by the earlier wrongful acts and omissions of defendant's employees.

We are warned of dire results from this holding. Patients, we are told, will use this decision to justify suits brought years later. But this assumes that, so long as a patient continues to consult the same physician for any kind of illness,

the time to sue as to any kind of malpractice will never start to run. We are creating no such situation. The "continuous treatment" we mean is treatment for the same or related illnesses or injuries, continuing after the alleged acts of malpractice, not mere continuity of a general physician-patient relationship.

The Utah Supreme Court very early in the trend toward liberalizing the severity of the common law rule adopted a continuing course of treatment rule. In the case of Peteler v. Robison, 17 P.2d 244 (Utah 1932), defendant was an eye, ear, nose, and throat specialist who allegedly performed an unnecessary tonsilectomy, and gave improper follow-up care and treatment which resulted in severe infection which spread to both ears requiring surgical care and treatment. The plaintiff was under the care and treatment of the doctor seeing him on a regular basis from January 16, 1919, to and including October 22, 1926. The defendant demurred with the trial court sustaining the demurrer on the ground that the cause of action was barred by the statute of limitations for failure to file within four years after the cause of action accrued. The action was filed January 24, 1927. Defendant took the position the cause accrued January 18, 1919 when the alleged misdiagnosis took place.

The Court explained its reversal of the trial court in the following language:

Had we a case where the only negligence alleged was the negligent and unskillful operation in removing the tonsils, and nothing more, let it be assumed that the cause of action accrued at the time of the commission and completion of such



operation, and, if an action based on such negligence alone was not commenced within four years thereafter, the bar of the statute would be complete, though the consequential damages or injuries resulting from such negligence were not ascertained or made manifest until after the statute had run. But that is not the alleged cause of action. Here the defendant undertook to treat the plaintiff for a throat affliction. From the time he undertook to treat the case until he ceased to treat it he, as alleged, did so in a negligent and unskillful manner. As alleged, the treatments were not separate and distinct acts, separate and distinct causes of action. They constituted an entire course of treatment of a case undertaken by defendant to be treated by him, and the whole thereof constituted but one cause of action. From the averments of the complaint, we think it should here be said, that the tort was a continuing one, and, where the tort is continuing, the right of action is also continuing. (17 P2d. at 249) (Citations Omitted).

In addition to the continuing tort theory the Court further discussed allegations of fraudulent concealment based upon representations of the defenant that his care and treatment would correct the problems in time and that she was suffering from the natural consequences of the operation. Defendant countered that such representations were mere expressions of opinion and not sufficient to show fraud. The Court implied that there is a different standard of fraud when the doctor patient relationship exists not entirely unlike the later decision in Ballenger, supra.

. . . (T)he case is not one of an alleged tort or breach where the parties stood on an equality and dealt with each other at arm's length, or where each had equal means of knowledge. The relation of the parties being that of physician and patient, the case is one of trust and confidence imposed in the defendant, and, as to what was to be done and what was being done and as to the manner of treatment, the plaintiff had the right to rely and did rely upon the superior knowledge of the defendant.

The necessity, purpose, and good faith of the continued treatments were facts peculiarly within the knowledge of the defendant. While the alleged assurances of the defendant, that the continued treatments would eventually clear up and cure the throat conditions, were in the nature of an opinion, and for that reason not subject as a basis of an action for failure to accomplish such results, still the promises and assurances were pertinent and relevant as bearing on the confidence and reliance placed in the defendant, on the acts and conduct of the plaintiff in submitting to the continued treatments and as to her delay of enforcing whatever right to a cause of action was possessed by her, for, if the defendant by his continued treatments was able to accomplish what he represented and assured he was able to do and the representations believed & relied on by plaintiff, the natural effect of such representations until the falsity of them was discovered was to cause delay in the enforcement of whatever right was possessed by the plaintiff...

17 P2d at 250 (Emphasis Added). (See Fowles v. Pennsylvania Ry, 264 F2d 399 (1959) putting the continuing tort theory in the context of a Federal Employers Liability Act case).

In the years that followed, many jurisdictions adopted the termination of treatment theory as the date of "accrual" of the cause of action. A relatively early California case faced the issue of whether or not the "termination of treatment" theory was to apply in a situation where a specific statute limited the cause of action. Myers v. Stevenson, 270 P2d. 885 (Cal. 1954). Therein, the Court was faced with an alleged malpractice by a physician committed on a minor during the course of the mother's labor. The suit was filed more than six years after the child's birth. The Court was asked to consider the applicability of California's six year statute governing torts committed upon children conceived, but not yet born. The statute specifically stated that there would be no tolling of the six year limitation during any period

disability mentioned in another section of the code that provided for tolling during periods of minority, insanity, and other disabilities. (It should be noted that this aspect is very similar to our current malpractice limitation of Section 78-14-4 U.C.A., 1953 as amended, infra.)

The Court found that there would be a tolling of the statute during the continuing treatment because the six year limitation was procedural in nature just as limitation of actions statutes are on any right that had its origin at common law as opposed to having its origin in legislative enactment and therefore:

If a statute specifies one exception to a general rule \* \* \* other exceptions \* \* \* are excluded."

Having expressly provided that the disabilities mentioned in Code Civ.Proc. § 352, i. e. infancy, insanity, etc., shall not extend the statute the legislature under this rule, as plainly indicated that other recognized legal grounds for extending the statute should be operative.

We conclude that the time limitation contained in section 29 was intended by the legislature as a procedural statute of limitations subject to being extended by any legal ground not specifically excluded in the section itself.

270 P2d. at 890 (Citations Omitted). (Emphasis Added).

That, of course is the status of the medical malpractice limitation that currently exists in Utah in that it has certain specifically excluded items leaving other legal grounds subject to court determination.

The Myers case also was an early decision further ameliorating the burden on plaintiffs by judicially invoking the rule "that the statute of limitation only starts to run from the date of discovery of, or the date when by the exercise

of reasonable diligence the plaintiff should have discovered the wrongful act." 270 P2d at 887. The Court used the "discovery rule" and the "termination of treatment rule" together in reversing the judgment of the lower court.

The Utah Supreme Court was again confronted with the definition of when a malpractice cause of action "accrues" in the case of Christiansen v. Rees, 436 P2d 435 (Utah 1968). Again, it should be recalled this case predated the passage of specific legislation limiting the period of time during which a malpractice claim could be filed. In the Christiansen case the evidence showed that a foreign object, to-wit: a surgical needle, had been left in the body of the Plaintiff after an operation; that Plaintiff had been ignorant of that fact for an ensuing period of time; that 10 years after the surgical procedure had been performed, but within four years after Plaintiff had discovered the existence of the surgical needle in his body, Plaintiff filed a malpractice action. The Trial Court granted Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. On appeal the question was whether Utah would adopt the so-called "discovery rule" or whether Utah would rule that regardless of the Plaintiff's lack of knowledge of the existence of the foreign object in his body, the Statute of Limitations commenced to run at the time of performance of the operation. In a four to one decision, Justice Callister made the following statement in support of the "discovery rule":

Case authority is divided as to the proper

rule in cases such as this. It would serve no useful purpose to discuss these divergent opinions. Suffice it to say, this court has read and analyzed them and has reached the conclusion that logic and reason support those authorities which have adopted the discovery rule. It seems somewhat incongruous that an injured person must commence a malpractice action prior to the time he knew, or reasonably should have known, of his injury and right of action. It seems apparent that adherence to the 'majority rule' would penalize the conscientious doctor, who would advise his patient of a mistake, and protect a practitioner, who would not reveal his mistake until the statute of limitations became a shield.

Therefore, we now hold that, regardless of prior pronouncements, where a foreign object is negligently left in the body of a patient during an operation and the patient is ignorant of the fact, and consequently of his right of action for malpractice, the cause of action does not accrue until the patient learned of the presence of such foreign object in his body. (Emphasis added)

The Court in arriving at its opinion cites with approval a number of cases, some of which are of particular importance.

The first of these cases is that of Berry v. Branner, 421 P.2d 966 (Ore. 1966). In the Berry case the Plaintiff brought a malpractice action against a physician. The Trial Court entered judgment adverse to the patient. The patient appealed and the Supreme Court in a five-two decision reversed, holding that the cause of action for malpractice action "accrues" within the meaning of the applicable two-year statute of limitations when the patient obtains ". . . knowledge, or reasonably should have obtained knowledge of a tort committed on the patient's

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