1979

Ralph L. Conk v. Wallace L. Chambers, M.D., and Granger Medical Clinic, A Corporation : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE JUDGMENT ENTERED
ON THE GENERAL VERDICT IF ONE OF THE
DETERMINATIVE ISSUES SUBMITTED TO THE JURY
WAS FREE FROM ERROR AND IF THE JURY'S
FINDING ON THAT ISSUE WAS SUPPORTED BY
SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

The judgment of the lower court was entered in this action on a general verdict of the jury in favor of the defendants. The plaintiff neither requested special interrogatories on the several issues determinative of this proceeding nor objected to the general verdict form. In accordance with this Court's long-standing presumption

of validity in favor of the verdict of the jury and the judgment entered thereon, the Court must presume that the jury found all issues of liability in favor of the defendants. Accordingly, if one of the issues submitted to the jury was free from error and if the jury's finding on that issue was supported by substantial evidence, the judgment of the lower court must be affirmed.

This Court has long recognized a presumption of validity in favor of all aspects of a verdict challenged on appeal. In Lawrence v. Bamberger R.R. Co., 3 Utah 2d 247, 282 P.2d 335 (1955), for example, the Court affirmed the judgment of the lower court and stated:

When the court has made findings and entered judgment thereon as was done here, it is then our duty to review the evidence in the light most favorable to the findings, and they must be allowed to stand if reasonable minds would agree with them. Likewise every reasonable intendment ought to be indulged in favor of the validity and correctness of the judgment under review and it will not be disturbed unless the appellant meets his burden of affirmatively showing error.
282 P.2d at 337 (Emphasis added)

Similarly, in Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City v. Mitsui Investment, Inc., 522 P.2d 1370 (Utah 1974), the Court affirmed a judgment on a jury verdict and stated:

This case falls within the framework of the fundamental principle: That what the parties are entitled to is a fair opportunity to present their respective cases to a court and jury for determination. When this has been accomplished, all presumptions favor the verity of the verdict and the judgment; and this includes all aspects of the conduct of the proceedings, and rulings of the court. 552 P.2d at 1374 (Emphasis added)

See, also, Burton v. Zions Co-op Mercantile Institution, 122 Utah 360, 247 P.2d 514 (1952); Evell & Son, Inc. v. Salt Lake City Corp.; 27 Utah 2d 188, 493 P.2d 1283 (1972); Robinson v. Hreinson, 17 Utah 2d 261, 409 P.2d 121 (1965); Dalton v. Wadley, 11 Utah 84, 355 P.2d 69 (1960).

As one aspect of the presumption in favor of a judgment, this Court, in accordance with an impressive majority of jurisdictions throughout the country, has recognized that when several issues determinative of an action are submitted to the trier of fact and the basis for decision

is unknown, it is the duty of the court to presume that the trier of fact relied upon a proper theory and upon proper evidence. In McLaughlin v. Chief Consolidated Mining Co., 220 P. 726 (Utah 1923), for example, the Court considered a general verdict in favor of the plaintiff and against the mining company in a negligence case in which the mining company's agent was exonerated from liability. Rejecting the appellant's contention that the general verdict in favor of the agent also exonerated the principal, the Court assumed that the jury had adopted a theory of liability that could properly be sustained on appeal. Affirming the judgment, the Court stated:

If the evidence supports the theory that the mining company was liable without taking into consideration anything that [the agent] did or said, or that he failed to do, it is the duty of this court to assume that the jurors adopted the theory supported by the evidence. 220 P. at 731 (Emphasis added)

Similarly, in Rose v. Strike, 10 Utah 2d 72, 348 P.2d 563 (1960), the Court reviewed a judgment in an action

where the trial court failed to render an opinion stating the basis of his decision. Noting that claims could have been based on at least one and perhaps more theories, the Court nevertheless affirmed stating:

[W]e will indulge ourselves in assuming that the trial court concluded as he did on a proper theory. The record disclosed no request for such an opinion and no exception to the lack of it. 348 P.2d at 564.

The presumption applied by the Utah court to sustain a judgment or general verdict where one, but not necessarily all, of several counts, issues or theories submitted to the trier of fact was free from error and supported by substantial evidence is widely recognized and approved in other jurisdictions as the "two issue rule."

In Colonial Stores, Inc. v. Scarborough, 355 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1978), the Supreme Court of Florida recently adopted the two issue rule as the better reasoned approach both as a matter of policy and in view of the presumption of validity afforded to judgments challenged on appeal. In that case, the plaintiff had obtained a general verdict in an action for malicious prosecution and false imprisonment.

An intermediate appellate court sustained the judgment upon a finding of sufficient evidence of malicious prosecution and did not address alleged errors pertaining to the false imprisonment count. Affirming the decision of the intermediate court, the Supreme Court addressed the "two issue rule" as follows:

The question arises where two or more issues are left to the jury, and of which [one or more] may be determinative of the case, and a general verdict is returned, making it impossible to ascertain the issue(s) upon which the verdict was founded. One line of authority holds that reversal is improper where no error is found as to one of the issues, as the appellant is unable to establish that he has been prejudiced. This is known in jurisprudence as the "two issue" rule. It is a rule of policy, designed to simplify the work of the trial courts and to limit the scope of proceedings on review.

The weight of authority to the contrary mandates a reversal where error has affected one issue unless it is clear that the complaining party has not been injured thereby. 355 So.2d at 1186 (Citations omitted)

The Supreme Court recognized and adopted the "two issue" rule as a better view supported by greater weight of authority. The Court dismissed arguments that injustice could result from adoption of the rule because counsel may simply request a special verdict as to each count in a case to determine the basis for the jury's decision. The Court therefore concluded:

Where the District Court determined under these circumstances that one of the issues submitted to the jury was free from pre-judicial error, it will be presumed that all issues were decided in favor of the prevailing party and the judgment will be affirmed. Id.

The "two issue" rule applies equally to general verdicts in favor of the plaintiff or in favor of the defendant. In Royal Homes, Inc. v. Dalene Hardwood Flooring Co., Inc., 199 A.2d 698 (Conn. 1964), the Court held that the failure to properly instruct the jury with respect to one of the defendant's defenses was harmless error because the general verdict in favor of the defendants was presumed to be based on a second and separate defense. The Court stated:

The fact that there were these two distinct defenses brought into operation the rule expressed in Meglio v. Comeau, 137 Conn. 551, 553, 79 A.2d 187, 188: "The Connecticut rule may be stated as follows: If there is no error in the instructions as to one of two distinct defenses, a general verdict for the defendant should be sustained To qualify under this definition, the defenses must be distinct. That is the decisive test." 199 A.2d at 700.

The "two issue" rule has been expressly adopted in the vast majority of jurisdictions that have considered the question. See, e.g., State Tax Commission v. Magma Copper Co., 41 Ariz. 97, 15 P.2d 961 (1932); Reese v. Cradit, 12 Ariz.App. 233, 469 P.2d 467 (1970); Berger v. Southern Pacific Co., 144 Cal.App.2d 1, 300 P.2d 170 (1956); Brignoli v. Seaboard Transportation Co., 171 P.2d 518, Sub. Opinion 178 P.2d 445 (Cal.App. 1947); Messier v. Zanglis, 144 Conn. 449, 133 A.2d 619 (1957); Meglio v. Comeau, 137 Conn. 551, 79 A.2d 187 (1951); Whitaker v. Creedon, 99 Ga.App. 228, 108 S.E.2d 335 (1959); Moore v. Jewel Tea Co., 46 Ill.2d 288, 263 N.E.2d 103 (1970).

Goldschmidt v. Chicago Transit Authority, 335 Ill.App. 461, 82 N.E.2d 357; Ohio Finance Co. v. Berry, 219 Ind. 97, 37 N.E.2d 2 (1941); Gossett v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 208 N.C. 152, 179 S.E. 438 (1935); Knisely v. Community Traction Co., 125 Ohio St. 131, 180 N.E. 654 (1932); Alexander v. Hair, 38 N.E.2d 601 (Ohio App. 1942); Anderson v. West, 241 S.E.2d 551 (S.Ct. S.C. 1978); Dwyer v. Christensen, 77 S.D. 381, 92 N.W.2d 199 (1958); McSoley v. Hogan, 40 A.2d 599 (S.Ct. R.I. 1944); Tenn. Cent. Ry. v. Umenstetter, 155 Tenn. 235, 291 S.W. 452 (1927); Clinchfield R.R. v. Forbes, 57 Tenn.App. 174, 417 S.W.2d 210 (1966). Other states have also recognized that a jury, by its general verdict, is presumed to have found all issues in favor of the prevailing party. See, e.g., Armstrong v. Greshaam, 73 Colo. 46, 213 P. 114 (1923); Ratcliff v. Murphy, 150 Mont. 31, 430 P.2d 627 (1967); Hutchinson Lumber Co. v. Scrivener, 91 Okla. 293, 217 P. 854 (1923); Lumbliner v. Ruge, 21 Wash. 2d 881, 153 P.2d 694 (1944).

In the present case, the defendants advanced three separate and distinct defenses at the time of trial: First, that the defendants were not negligent; second, that any negligence was not the proximate cause of the plaintiff's renal failure; and third, that the plaintiff's claims were barred by the statute of limitations. Since it must be presumed that the jury found in favor of the defendants on all three issues, each of which is dispositive of the action, the Court should affirm the general verdict if any one of the issues can be sustained on appeal.

POINT II

THE JURY FOUND UNDER PROPER INSTRUCTIONS AND UPON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANTS WERE NOT NEGLIGENT

The plaintiff asserts as grounds for reversal two issues that relate to the defendants' conduct. First, the plaintiff argues that Dr. Chambers negligently failed to obtain an informed consent and that the jury was not properly instructed on that issue. With respect to informed consent, the plaintiff specifically claims that

Dr. Chambers should have advised him that the by-pass procedure was "experimental" and that the operation was ill-advised because of the condition of the plaintiff's kidneys prior to surgery. Second, the plaintiff assails the court's refusal to give certain instructions purporting to define the standard of care required of the defendant. Since the plaintiff submits no other allegations of error upon which the defendant's conduct is challenged, no additional claims will be addressed.

A. The Defendant Disclosed All Substantial And Significant Risks Of The Procedure And The Jury Was Properly Instructed As To That Issue.

This Court has previously recognized the physician's duty to disclose to a patient the material and usual, but not highly speculative, risks of medical treatment. Ficklin v. MacFarlane, 550 P.2d 1295 (Utah 1976) That duty is now codified in the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act which requires physicians to inform patients of "substantial and significant" risks of a proposed procedure. Utah Code Ann., § 78-14-5 (1953) The jury correctly

found that Dr. Chambers complied in all respects with that duty.

The plaintiff stresses in his brief the argument that the intestinal by-pass procedure was "experimental" in that the medical profession by 1973 had acquired too little knowledge to anticipate the risks attendant to that operation. The jury quite properly rejected that proposition. Dr. Daniel Hunter, an experienced Ogden surgeon, who at the time of trial had performed 160 by-pass operations, testified that the usual and expected results of the procedure were known as early as 1963 when one of the foremost proponents of the operation reported on sixteen years of experience and follow-up with his patients. (R. 1197) Dr. Hunter flatly rejected the suggestion of plaintiff's counsel that the procedure was still "experimental" when he stated:

I did not consider it experimental or I wouldn't have been doing it in private practice. I considered it an operation that had been observed for eight years, had been tried in a large enough series and had some expected results. I have found that there are some additional problems that I have become acquainted with as the time has gone on since I first started doing them. There may be

others in the future, but this is true whether I'm talking about gastric surgery or colon surgery, it's true of every phase of surgery. We are making advances. We can't know everything about everything that is done. We get a reasonable experience with it, and then we can start to use it with expectation that it is going to be an improvement in the patient's health. (R. 1028)

Whether the procedure was in fact "experimental" is inconsequential in any event because the jury reasonably concluded that the plaintiff was advised of Dr. Chambers' opinion that the operation should be considered to be "experimental." Dr. Chambers testified that he so informed the plaintiff and Mr. Conk admitted that the defendant described the operation as "a new procedure." (R. 788, 1062) The matter of witness credibility, of course, falls within the province of the jury. As this Court stated in Gittens v. Lundberg, 3 Utah 2d 392, 284 P.2d 1115 (1955):

It is the duty of this court to leave the question of credibility of witnesses to the jury or finder of fact and we have quite consistently adhered to that policy. As has often been said, the jury is in a favored position to form impressions as to the trust to be

reposed in witnesses. They have the advantage of fairly close personal contact; the opportunity to observe appearance and general demeanor; and the chance to feel the impact of personalities. All of which they may consider in connection with the reactions, manner of expression and apparent frankness and candor or want of it in reacting to and answering questions on both direct and cross-examination in determining whether, and to what extent, witnesses are to be believed. Whereas, the appellate court is handicapped by being limited to a review of an impersonal record. 284 P.2d at 1117.

See, also, Lamkin v. Lynch, Utah Supreme Ct. No. 15683 (Aug. 27, 1979).

The contention that Dr. Chambers had a duty to inform the plaintiff of a kidney "problem" that was alleged to be a contraindication to the by-pass surgery is equally meritless. The uncontroverted evidence was that the plaintiff's kidney function was totally normal immediately prior to the operation. (R. 824, 1163) The only indication prior to surgery of any abnormal kidney condition was the presence of protein in the plaintiff's urine that was observed on three occasions prior to surgery.

(R. 1256-57, 1261-63) The specialist in kidney diseases who treated the plaintiff testified that the incidents of proteinuria were the result of the plaintiff's long-standing hypertension and that the condition would be expected to improve dramatically and perhaps disappear entirely upon a reduction in blood pressure brought about by weight loss. (R. 1256-57, 1261-63, 1272) The evidence established that the plaintiff's hypertensive nephrosclerosis was not a contraindication to any need of surgery and, to the contrary, the objectives of the surgery were expected to improve the condition. (R. 1271, 1273, 1194, 1211, 1222)

The plaintiff's challenges to the court's instructions on informed consent likewise must fail for several reasons. First, there was no evidence upon which to rest a claim of lack of informed consent under any theory. Renal failure of the type present in this action was unknown to the medical profession in 1973. (R. 1194, 1278-79) Even at the time of trial, only two reports of renal failure had

been published among the tens of thousands of by-pass patients. (R. 1278-79, 1285-86) Under such circumstances, as a matter of law, Dr. Chambers could not be held liable for failing to disclose such a risk. See, Ficklin v. McFarlane, 550 P.2d 1295 (Utah 1976) (concurring opinion). It was also conclusively established that the condition of hypertensive nephrosclerosis was not a contraindication to surgery nor was it related in any way to the ultimate renal failure. (R. 1271, 1273, 1194, 1211, 1222, 1282) In short, undisclosed "risks" of which the plaintiff complains were never shown to be material, substantial or usual complications of the by-pass procedure.

Second, the challenged instructions when viewed in light of the evidence are not inherently inconsistent. The plaintiff complains that the defendant's proffered instruction limits the duty of disclosure to those risks which would have been disclosed as a part of accepted medical practice among surgeons practicing in accordance with the applicable standard of care. (R. 155) The

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